

BY-LAWS (Pages 1-4)
LOCAL RULES (Page 5)

BY-LAWS OF
THE SAN JUAN HILLS WOMEN'S GOLF ASSOCIATION
AS AMENDED FEBRUARY 20, 2014

ARTICLE I – NAME

The name of this organization shall be “San Juan Hills Women’s Golf Association,” a non-profit organization, which henceforth may be referred to as SJHWGA or “the Club.”

ARTICLE II – OBJECTIVES

SECTION 1. To promote the interest of golf.

SECTION 2. To organize women golfers into a unit.

SECTION 3. To provide organized golfing opportunities for women golfers of every proficiency.

SECTION 4. To promote social activities for its members.

SECTION 5. To establish and maintain proper handicaps according to USGA handicapping system, and to cooperate and comply with the USGA rules and regulations.

SECTION 6. To conduct weekly games, annual club championship, special tournaments and events for members.

ARTICLE III – MEMBERSHIP, GENERAL

SECTION 1. Any female at birth, eighteen years of age or over, of desirable character, shall be eligible to become a member.

SECTION 2. Members agree to abide by and support the By-Laws and general policies of SJHWGA. They must observe standard course etiquette, exhibit proper conduct, and play by USGA rules. Members must be in good standing and not be subject to any disciplinary process or sanction of SJHWGA or affiliated associations. Abuse by any member may result in disciplinary action including suspension or expulsion from the Club by a 2/3 vote of the Board of Directors.

SECTION 3. Due to unforeseen adverse circumstances, a member may request in writing special consideration regarding her membership from the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. Any member whose membership shall have lapsed, or whose membership shall have been discontinued for any reason, and who wishes to resume her membership shall apply for reinstatement and shall comply with all the provisions set forth in Articles III, IV, and V, with the exception that she need not pay an initiation fee.

ARTICLE III – MEMBERSHIP, CATEGORIES

SECTION 1. Regular or Limited Membership applicants shall be approved and accepted by the Board of Directors subject to the requirements set forth in Articles III, IV and V.

SECTION 2. Regular Members may participate in weekly games, Club Championship, and additional tournaments under the conditions specified in the provisions of Article IV – TOURNAMENT ELIGIBILITY AND PROCEDURE.

SECTION 3. Dues for Regular Membership will reflect additional fees to fund competition as agreed upon and voted by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 4. Regular Members should make a positive effort to maintain a working handicap within the maximum limit of 40. Members having a handicap of more than 40 shall play to a 40 in all Club events.

SECTION 5. Members electing a Limited Membership may not compete in weekly games, Club Championship or specified tournaments. They must follow the field during foursome or partner events. Those with Limited Membership may change their status to Regular Membership upon payment of the additional fee.

SECTION 6. A member who is no longer able to participate in Club play and does not need a handicap, but who wishes to maintain her membership, may be designated as an Auxiliary Member by application to and approval by the Board of Directors. Such members may not revert to active membership. Auxiliary Members may not serve on the Board of Directors but may contribute their services when requested.

ARTICLE IV – TOURNAMENT ELIGIBILITY AND PROCEDURE

SECTION 1. Ladies Day shall be Thursday of each week or such additional day designated by the Board of Directors as Ladies Day. To compete in any major tournament or weekly game a member must:

- A. Possess an established handicap.
- B. Play to no more than a 40 handicap.
- C. Play eighteen holes.
- D. Pay the Regular Membership fee as established by the Board of Directors.
- E. Post all scores in a timely manner.
- F. Observe the following procedures:
 1. Score cards must be signed and attested before they are turned in after play. No alteration may be made on a score card after it is turned in. If a player returns a score for any hole lower than actually taken, she shall be disqualified. A score higher than actually taken must stand as turned in.
 2. Each player shall check her score for each hole and settle any doubtful points before playing the next hole. Each player is solely responsible for the correctness of her score recorded for each hole.

3. Players shall cooperate and comply with USGA Rules and Regulations, Local Rules and the Club's Standing Rules.
4. To compete in weekly games a player must sign in on weekly game sheet and complete after play.

SECTION 2. To be eligible for MAJOR TOURNAMENTS a member must, in addition to the provisions in SECTION 1 above:

- A. Belong to SJHWGA for 4 months as a Regular Member.
- B. Play 8 weekly games on Ladies Day and attend 4 General Meetings in a 12 month period prior to a major tournament in accordance with ARTICLE III.
- C. Any Regular Member who does not meet the requirements of ARTICLE IV, SECTION 2 due to unusual circumstances may petition the Board to participate in a major tournament.

ARTICLE V – DUES AND FEES

SECTION 1. The fiscal year of this Association shall be January 1 to December 31.

SECTION 2. The initiation fee and annual membership dues shall be as established by the Board of Directors.

SECTION 3. Membership fees, as applicable, are due and payable before the first day of June of each year.

SECTION 4. Members will be billed in October. Any member who shall be in arrears in the payment of her annual dues after December 1 may be dropped from membership. The Board, however, will consider and decide any case of a member being in arrears due to unusual circumstances. To reinstate there is a \$10.00 charge which the member must pay.

SECTION 5. Applicants joining after December 31 shall be required to pay the full initiation fee and other dues which are prorated based on the month joined.

ARTICLE VI – GOVERNMENT AND MANAGEMENT

SECTION 1. The control and management of the affairs, funds and property of the Club shall be vested in the Board of Directors, consisting of the eight elected officers: President, Tournament Chairman, Handicap Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, Membership Chairman, Rules Chairman, and SDCWGA delegate. Any Committee Chairman appointed by the President may be asked to attend Board meetings as required by the President.

SECTION 2. A member of the Board of Directors or a Committee Chairman shall incur no expenditure or liability of \$300.00 or more unless established in the approved annual budget or approved by a majority vote of the Board.

SECTION 3. The Board of Directors and committee members shall serve without compensation.

SECTION 4. Absence of any Director from three consecutive Board meetings, or a total of three General Meetings, will automatically constitute her resignation unless remaining Directors deem this absence of unusual circumstances and beyond control.

SECTION 5. The Board of Directors shall settle all complaints, disputes or interpretations of By-Laws. The decision of the Board will be final.

SECTION 6. The Board of Directors shall promote tournaments and provide for trophies and prizes.

ARTICLE VII – MEETINGS

SECTION 1. There shall be a General Membership Meeting the third Thursday of each month unless otherwise stated by the Board of Directors, and a meeting of the Board of Directors each month at a time to be agreed upon by the Board.

SECTION 2. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at any time by the Secretary on order of the President or four members of the Board of Directors. The Secretary shall give each Director reasonable notice.

SECTION 3. A copy of these By-Laws shall be on hand for reference at all meetings.

ARTICLE VIII – OFFICERS AND ELECTIONS

SECTION 1. Elective Officers:

- A. The Elective Officers shall be President, Tournament Chairman, Handicap Chairman, Secretary, Treasurer, Membership Chairman, Rules Chairman and SDCWGA Delegate, and together form the Board of Directors.
- B. All officers shall be elected for a term of one year. No officer shall hold the same office for more than two consecutive terms with the exception of positions which require certification (i.e. Handicap, Rules, etc.) and at the option of the club may serve a third term if necessary for continuity.
- C. No Member shall be eligible for the Board of Directors until she has been a member for one year prior to elections.
- D. To be eligible for President one must have served one year previously on the Board of Directors.

SECTION 2. Election:

- A. The President shall appoint a Nominating Committee at the September General Meeting. It shall consist of at least one member from each flight class, if practicable. This committee shall nominate two persons, if practicable, for each office, and shall post its recommendations in a suitable location in the Clubhouse before submitting its report at the October General Meeting. Nominations may be made from the floor at the October General Meeting provided the nominee has previously given her approval of such nomination and indicated her willingness to accept office. A member may nominate herself for any office. No member of the Nominating Committee shall be a candidate for office.
- B. The election of officers shall be held at the November General Meeting.
- C. Election of each of the 8 officers shall be by written ballot or voice vote of those present.

D. Absentee votes shall be in writing and submitted to the Nominating Committee prior to the opening of the November General Meeting.

E. If none of the offices is contested, the Slate presented by the Nominating Committee shall be deemed to be accepted and no further voting is necessary. If any one of the offices is contested, voting on the contested office will take place at the November General Meeting and the winner will be determined by a simple majority.

F. Newly elected officers shall assume their duties January 1

G. In case of the vacancy or resignation of the President, the Tournament Chairman shall assume the duties of the President.

H. In case of the vacancy of any other office, the President shall appoint a replacement to finish the term, such action to be ratified by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE IX – DUTIES OF OFFICERS

SECTION 1. The President shall preside at all meetings of this organization and the Board of Directors, and shall be ex-officio member of all Committees except the Nominating Committee. She shall have power to appoint Standing and Special Committees, Parliamentarian and Auditor as needed. She shall sit as a non-voting member of the Board of Directors, except in instances of breaking a tie vote.

SECTION 2. The Tournament Chairman shall have charge of all Ladies Golf events. She must post all events in advance, record and announce winners as known and keep record of the tournament funds and awards. She must present an annual calendar of all tournaments for the approval of the Board. She shall appoint one or more members to assist her. The Tournament Chairman shall assist the President and shall, in the latter's absence, preside at all meetings.

SECTION 3. The Handicap Chairman shall be responsible for proper keeping of Handicap records and shall abide by recommendations of the San Diego County Women's Golf Association for the uniformity of handicaps. She shall appoint one or more members to assist her. She shall coordinate with the Treasurer to forward computer handicapping fees, and it shall be her responsibility to submit to this organization the information which it requires in order to maintain its records.

SECTION 4. The Secretary shall keep records of the meetings of the Board of Directors and the Association. She shall read and answer, as directed, all correspondence to this organization and shall issue all notices.

SECTION 5. The Treasurer shall receive all funds of the Association and keep a record thereof. All bills must be submitted in writing, accompanied by an itemized invoice wherever possible. She shall submit a Treasurer's report at each meeting.

SECTION 6. The Rules Chairman shall find answers to all golfing questions through the USGA Rules of Golf and report monthly. She shall inform herself adequately on all rules of golf. When in doubt, questions shall be referred to the Rules Chairman of San Diego County Women's Golf Association whose decision shall be final.

SECTION 7. The Membership Chairman shall distribute applications to applicants. She shall determine acceptability to Club standards as set forth in Article III and act accordingly. She shall notify new members of acceptance by the Board and introduce them to Club members. She shall acquaint all new members with their responsibilities as members of SJHWGA. The Membership Chairman shall compile and maintain a correct list of names and addresses of members. She may appoint a Committee to assist her.

SECTION 8. The SDCWGA Delegate shall conduct all business concerning San Diego County Women's Golf Association and shall communicate information from that organization to the Board and SJHWGA membership.

ARTICLE X – QUORUM

SECTION 1. In order to transact official business of the Club, a quorum consisting of at least thirty percent (30%) of the membership, and at least four (4) members of the Board of Directors, must be present at a General Meeting.

SECTION 2. At least five (5) members of the Board of Directors must be present at all regular or special meetings of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE XI – AMENDMENTS

SECTION 1. These By-Laws may be repealed, amended or new By-Laws adopted by a two-thirds majority of members present, provided such proposal is read at the previous meeting and posted in the ladies' locker room at least two weeks in advance of a vote.

ARTICLE XII – ORDER OF BUSINESS

SECTION 1. The Order of Business at Regular and Special Meetings of the Club shall be:

- A. Introduction of guest
- B. Approval of minutes of last meeting
- C. Report of Treasurer
- D. Introduction of new members
- E. Officers Reports
- F. Unfinished Business
- G. New Business
- H. Adjournment

ARTICLE XIII – RULES OF ORDER

SECTION 1. All meetings of the Club shall be governed by Robert's Rules of Order.

STANDING RULES

1. In case of rain on General Meeting day, the meeting will be called at 1:00 p.m. in the clubhouse. (Amended 2/20/14)
2. Sign-up sheets for the following Thursday's play will be available 45 minutes prior to the first tee time. After Thursday, tee times may be made by contacting the scheduler.

A. When play is cancelled, new starting times for the following week will be required and must be made by contacting the scheduler no earlier than 8:00 a.m. that Thursday.

3. A member who wishes to cancel must call the scheduler no later than 12:00 noon on the day preceding play or call the Pro Shop before 7:30 a.m. on Thursday or she will be considered a no-show. A member with a habitual pattern of no-shows may be subject to disciplinary action by the Board of Directors.

4. A prior member may be signed in as a guest, on a limited basis, with a member. Any member may invite and sign in a guest on a limited basis. A guest may not compete or enter any weekly activity where monetary or honorary prizes are awarded with the exception of "Guest Days" and "Invitational Tournaments." (Amended 10-17-13)

5. A member may sign in one (1) other member for a starting time.

6. Only holes-in-one on official play day are recognized; all eighteen (18) holes must be completed. Any member making the hole-in-one will receive \$100.00 cash. The bar bill for club members present on that day will be paid by SJHWGA.

7. Most Improved Golfer must be a member at the start of the SJHWGA fiscal year and post twenty (20) SJHWGA scores within one year prior to the presentation of the award. She must have improved from a starting handicap index not higher than a prior winning handicap index.

8. A minimum of 16 players must compete to constitute a weekly game.

9. On Ladies Day, if a hole is NOT in play for that day's tournament, a player may choose to pick up and take the most likely score, not to exceed the player's Equitable Stroke Control limit. An "X" should precede the most likely score. However, if a player picks up on a hole that counts in the "Tournament of the Day," she will no longer be eligible to participate in that day's event. (Section 4 "USGA Handicap System" Manual).

10. If a member has signed up for an event and does not cancel the week before, she will be liable for the incurred cost.

11. SJHWGA will hold a Club Championship and a Club Senior Championship each year. Any Regular member may enter the Club Championship provided they meet the requirements listed in Article IV. Only Regular members aged 65 or older may enter the Senior Championship. A member may not enter both events. The Champion in either event shall be that competitor who posts the lowest gross score for three weeks regardless of flight or handicap. (Amended 10-17-13)

**San Juan Hills Women's Golf Association - Local Rules
(Board Approved: February 11, 2016)**

USGA rules govern all play unless modified by local rules. The following are local rules adopted by SJHWGA.

1. RELIEF DUE TO AERATION HOLES

Through the green, a ball that comes to rest in or on an aeration hole may be lifted, without penalty, cleaned and dropped, as near as possible to the spot where it lay but not nearer the hole. The ball when dropped must first strike a part of the course through the green. On the putting green, a ball that comes to rest in or on an aeration hole may be placed at the nearest spot not nearer the hole that avoids the situation.

2. RELIEF DUE TO UNUSUAL COURSE CONDITIONS – (MUD, EXTREME WETNESS, POOR CONDITIONS, ABNORMAL TEMPORARY GROUND CONDITIONS)

Relief for unusual course conditions in **closely-mown areas (fairway only)** may be taken, without penalty. Before lifting the ball, the player must mark the ball position, then drop it on a spot within **one club-length** of and not nearer the hole than where it originally lay.

- A. Embedded Ball – **Relief by Lift, Clean and Drop**
- B. MUD and EXTREME WETNESS – **Relief by Lift, Clean and Drop**
- C. BARE GROUND (Area greater or equal to 1ft x 1ft square) – **Relief by Drop**
- D. ABNORMAL TEMPORARY GROUND CONDITIONS (i.e., crow disturbed areas) – **Relief by Drop**

3. RELIEF FROM DEFINED IMMOVABLE OBSTRUCTIONS:

Relief from the following defined immovable objections may be taken:

- A. GREENSIDE SPRINKLER HEADS
Relief is allowed when a fixed sprinkler head intervenes between the player's ball and the hole if the sprinkler is within two club lengths of the green and the player's ball is within two club lengths of the sprinkler. The player is allowed **one club length** from the nearest point of relief when the sprinkler is between the ball and the hole and on the intended line of play, no penalty.
- B. CEMENT DRAINS, V-DITCHES, and FRENCH DRAINS
The ball must be lifted and dropped within **one club-length** of and (a) is not nearer the hole, (b) avoids intervention and (c) is not in a hazard or on a putting green.
- C. FALLEN TREES
Relief is allowed from trees and/or large branches (immovable obstructions) which have fallen on the course due to recent weather but have not been marked for removal. The ball must be lifted and dropped within **one club-length** of and (a) is not nearer the hole, (b) avoids intervention and (c) is not in a hazard or on a putting green.
- D. STAKED TREES
Stakes supporting young trees or the wires supporting the stakes are considered Immovable Obstructions. If the stakes or wires interfere with the player's stance or swing, (not the line of flight), the player may drop the ball within one club length from nearest point of relief, no nearer to the hole. No penalty. The tree itself is not an Obstruction.

4. PREFERRED LIES

The USGA does not endorse nor interpret winter rules or preferred lies. However, when adverse conditions are prevalent throughout the course "Preferred Lies" promote fair and pleasant play and often protect the course. **The SJHWGA Tournament Chair shall determine whether the course conditions warrant preferred lies for each SJHWGA event.**

The procedure for preferred lies shall be: Ball lying on a closely-mown area through the green (i.e., fairway) may be lifted, without penalty, and cleaned. Before lifting the ball, the player must mark its position. Having lifted the ball, she must place it on a spot within **six inches** of and not nearer the hole than where it originally lay, that is not in a hazard and not on a putting green. If the player fails to mark the position of the ball before lifting it or moves the ball in any other manner, such as rolling it with a club, she incurs a penalty of one stroke.

5. DISTANCE MEASURING DEVICES

For all play in ladies club events held at San Juan Hills, a player may obtain distance information by using a device that measures distance only. If, during a stipulated round, a player uses a distance-measuring device that is designed to gauge or measure other conditions that might affect his play (e.g., gradient, wind speed, temperature, etc.), the player is in breach of Rule 14-3, for which the penalty is disqualification regardless of whether any such additional function is actually used.

6. STONES IN BUNKERS

Stones in bunkers are movable obstructions. (Rule 24-1 applies)

7. OUT OF BOUNDS

Out of Bounds is defined by white stakes. Note the following Out of Bounds areas:

Hole 1: Behind the Green as defined by white stakes.

Hole 2: Behind the cart path on the hillside. The cart path itself is in play.

Hole 3: Right of the lake and behind the green as defined by white stakes.

Hole 4: Right side through the hole as defined by white stakes

Hole 5: Right side through the hole and behind the green as defined by white stakes.

Hole 6: Left hillside and right of cart path near residential properties as defined by white stakes..

Hole 9: Left side street. Beyond the cart path behind the green. The cart path itself is in play. The tunnel itself is out of bounds as is the shrubbery area on the far side of the cart path.

Hole 11: Right side fence, beyond the cart path behind the green.

Hole 12: Left side fence near residential property, right side short wall near maintenance yard

Hole 13: Left side fence, Right side beyond the "V" Ditch.

Hole 14: Right side hillside, left side near residential properties, behind the green.

Hole 15: Left side near residential properties, right side fence at top of the hill.

Hole 16: Left side hill. Maintenance building and bathroom are played as a lateral hazard.

Hole 17: Left side hill. Right side of cart path.

Hole 18: Right side near residential properties.

8. HOLE SPECIFIC RELIEF

Hole #1 – The water hazard on hole #1 shall be played as a water hazard when playing this hole (yellow stake).

Hole #9 or #18 –A ball entering the water hazard on adjacent hole #1 shall be played as a lateral hazard (red stake).

Hole #13 – A ball entering the flower bed behind green #13 (between the green and #14 tee box) is eligible for relief of one-club length nearest point of relief, no nearer to the hole.

Board Approved Date: February 11, 2016